

ANNUAL CONNECT

www.annualreviews.org

- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 2021. 46:111-34

First published as a Review in Advance on June 17, 2021

The Annual Review of Environment and Resources is online at environ.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-012220-125703

Copyright © 2021 by Annual Reviews. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited. See credit lines of images or other third-party material in this article for license information

Annual Review of Environment and Resources The Cold Region Critical Zone in Transition: Responses to Climate Warming and Land Use Change

Kunfu Pi,^{1,2} Magdalena Bieroza,³ Anatoli Brouchkov,⁴ Weitao Chen,⁵ Louis J.P. Dufour,³ Konstantin B. Gongalsky,⁶ Anke M. Herrmann,³ Eveline J. Krab,³ Catherine Landesman,⁷ Anniet M. Laverman,⁸ Natalia Mazei,⁹ Yuri Mazei,^{6,10} Mats G. Öquist,¹¹ Matthias Peichl,¹¹ Sergey Pozdniakov,¹² Fereidoun Rezanezhad,² Céline Roose-Amsaleg,⁸ Anastasia Shatilovich,¹³ Andong Shi,³ Christina M. Smeaton,¹⁴ Lei Tong,¹ Andrey N. Tsyganov,^{6,15} and Philippe Van Cappellen²

¹School of Environmental Studies, China University of Geosciences, 430074 Wuhan, Hubei, China; email: pikunfu@cug.edu.cn, tonglei@cug.edu.cn

²Ecohydrology Research Group, Water Institute and Department of Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario N2L 3G1, Canada; email: pvc@uwaterloo.ca, frezanez@uwaterloo.ca

³Department of Soil and Environment, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden; email: magdalena.bieroza@slu.se, louis.dufour@slu.se, anke.herrmann@slu.se, eveline.krab@slu.se, andong.shi@slu.se

⁴Department of Geocryology, Lomonosov Moscow State University, 119991 Moscow, Russia; email: brouchkov@geol.msu.ru

⁵School of Computer Sciences, China University of Geosciences, 430074 Wuhan, Hubei, China; email: wtchen@cug.edu.cn

⁶Severtsov Institute of Ecology and Evolution, Russian Academy of Sciences, 119071 Moscow, Russia; email: kocio@mail.ru, yurimazei@mail.ru, andrey.tsyganov@bk.ru

⁷SUBATECH, UMR 6457 (IMT-Atlantique, Université de Nantes, CNRS-IN2P3), 44307 Nantes, France; email: catherine.landesman@subatech.in2p3.fr

⁸Université de Rennes 1, CNRS, ECOBIO - UMR 6553, 35042 Rennes, France; email: Anniet.Laverman@univ-rennes1.fr, celine.amsaleg@univ-rennes1.fr

⁹Department of Physical Geography and Landscape Science, Lomonosov Moscow State University, 119991 Moscow, Russia; email: natashamazei@mail.ru

¹⁰Faculty of Biology, Shenzhen MSU-BIT University, 518172 Shenzhen, Guangdong, China

¹¹Department of Forest Ecology and Management, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, 901 83 Umeå, Sweden; email: mats.oquist@slu.se, matthias.peichl@slu.se

¹²Department of Hydrogeology, Lomonosov Moscow State University, 119991 Moscow, Russia; email: sppozd@mail.ru

¹³Institute of Physicochemical and Biological Problems of Soil Science, Russian Academy of Sciences, 142290 Pushchino, Russia; email: nastya.shat@rambler.ru

¹⁴School of Science and the Environment, Grenfell Campus, Memorial University of Newfoundland, Corner Brook, Newfoundland A2H 5G4, Canada; email: csmeaton@grenfell.mun.ca

¹⁵Department of General Ecology and Hydrobiology, Lomonosov Moscow State University, 119991 Moscow, Russia

Keywords

cold regions, environmental change, critical zone, hydrogeology, biogeochemistry, agroecosystems

Abstract

Global climate warming disproportionately affects high-latitude and mountainous terrestrial ecosystems. Warming is accompanied by permafrost thaw, shorter winters, earlier snowmelt, more intense soil freeze-thaw cycles, drier summers, and longer fire seasons. These environmental changes in turn impact surface water and groundwater flow regimes, water quality, greenhouse gas emissions, soil stability, vegetation cover, and soil (micro)biological communities. Warming also facilitates agricultural expansion, urban growth, and natural resource development, adding growing anthropogenic pressures to cold regions' landscapes, soil health, and biodiversity. Further advances in the predictive understanding of how cold regions' critical zone processes, functions, and ecosystem services will continue to respond to climate warming and land use changes require multiscale monitoring technologies coupled with integrated observational and modeling tools. We highlight some of the major challenges, knowledge gaps, and opportunities in cold region critical zone research, with an emphasis on subsurface processes and responses in both natural and agricultural ecosystems.

Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	113
2.	HYDRO(GEO)LOGICAL PROCESSES UNDER A CHANGING	
	CLIMATE	114
	2.1. Thermal Regimes in the Cold Shallow Subsurface	114
	2.2. Hydrological Responses	115
	2.3. Surface Water–Groundwater Interactions	116
3.	HYDROGEOCHEMICAL RESPONSES	116
	3.1. Soil and Groundwater Geochemical Responses	116
	3.2. Greenhouse Gas Emissions	117
	3.3. Contaminant Fate and Transport	118
	3.4. Hyporheic and Riparian Zones	119
4.	SOIL ECOLOGICAL RESPONSES	119
	4.1. Microbial Communities	119
	4.2. Faunal Communities	120
5.	COLD REGION AGRICULTURE AND AGROECOSYSTEMS	121

	5.1. Agricultural Expansion Into Cold Regions	121
	5.2. Soil Degradation	121
	5.3. Cold Region Agroecosystems Under Climate Change	122
	5.4. Biogeochemical and Ecosystem Responses	123
6.	COLD REGION CRITICAL ZONE RESEARCH: CHALLENGES	
	AND OPPORTUNITIES	123
	6.1. Some Known Unknowns	123
	6.2. Cold Region Critical Zone Research: The Path Forward	124
	6.3. Technological Opportunities	125
7.	CONCLUSIONS	126
1.	INTRODUCTION	
М	oderate- to high-latitude terrestrial ecosystems and mountainous regions are rapidly	chan

5.1. Agricultural Expansion Into Cold Regions

ions are rapidly changing because of climate change. In Arctic and boreal regions, seasonal mean temperatures are increasing twice as fast as the global averages, with the greatest warming occurring during the winter (1, 2). If global warming continues as projected, the surface air temperature in the Arctic may increase by 5–6°C by the end of the twenty-first century, much higher than the estimated mean global increase (3).

The Earth's cold regions have already undergone significant climate-driven hydro(geo)logical changes. Retreating snowpacks and earlier snowmelt in mountainous watersheds are decreasing mean annual streamflow and causing peak runoff earlier in the year, while permafrost thaw and seasonal freeze-thaw are modifying the relative importance of surface and groundwater flows in northern ecosystems (4-6). These hydrological changes are accompanied by changes in, among others, vegetation cover, thermal regime of soils, fluxes and timing of nutrient export to aquatic ecosystems, emissions of greenhouse gases (GHGs), and the mobilization of organic carbon and geogenic contaminants (7-10). That is, climate warming generates a set of interrelated changes in the critical zone (hydro)geophysical properties, hydro(geo)logical flows, biogeochemical processes, and ecosystem functions in the world's cold regions.

The critical zone comprises the life-sustaining near-surface earth environment that connects the terrestrial biosphere with the atmosphere, hydrosphere, and shallow geosphere (11, 12). Compared with the temperate regions, cold regions are characterized by a shorter growing season, more persistent snow cover, extensive permafrost, and pronounced cycles of freezing and thawing. In addition to accelerating many abiotic and biotic soil processes, rising air and soil temperatures also facilitate the expansion of population and agriculture in cold regions (13). Agricultural intensification (including aquaculture), infrastructure construction (e.g., roads and pipelines), and mining operations are adding further pressures to the ecological health of the cold regions' critical zone (11). In turn, changes in the critical zone may engender feedbacks to the water cycle and climate system that extend the environmental impacts to the regional and even global scale.

Previous reviews of the critical zone in cold regions have primarily focused on the hydrological consequences of permafrost thaw and the northward retreat of permafrost and seasonally frozen soils (4, 6, 8). Here, we provide an admittedly nonexhaustive overview of key aspects of cold region critical zone science, with an emphasis on the climatic, hydro(geo)logical, and agricultural drivers of changes in subsurface biogeochemistry, water quality, and ecology. We pay special attention to knowledge gaps and emerging issues, as well as to opportunities for assessing the local and regional responses of the critical zone to anthropogenic pressures through enhanced monitoring and modeling capabilities coupled with the establishment of cold region critical zone observatories (CZOs). Permafrost: ground with temperature <0°C for at least two consecutive years; also called perennially frozen ground

GHGs: greenhouse gases

CZO: critical zone observatory

2. HYDRO(GEO)LOGICAL PROCESSES UNDER A CHANGING CLIMATE

2.1. Thermal Regimes in the Cold Shallow Subsurface

Rising temperatures in high latitudes and high altitudes are changing the thermal regimes of the near-surface environment (9). For example, over the past 40 years soil temperatures at shallow depths have increased by up to 2°C in northern Europe (14). Ongoing trends in soil temperatures increase the probability for large areas of the cold regions to experience annual duration of soil temperatures remaining above 0°C (15). This, in turn, impacts soil hydro(geo)logical processes, including permafrost degradation, freeze-thaw cycles, and soil hydrophysical properties (**Figure 1**) (16).

Increasing ground temperatures are causing the progressive northward retreat of perennially frozen soils whose areal extent has shrunk by more than 10% within the past four decades (17). In addition, historically continuous permafrost areas are becoming disconnected with sporadic permafrost patches turning into seasonally frozen ground (4). Higher summer air temperatures correlate with increases in the active layer thickness, while higher winter air temperatures are associated with decreases in the annual thickness and duration of seasonally frozen ground in the cold and cold-temperate regions (18, 19). Consequently, the increases in the coverage of taliks



Figure 1

Coupled hydro(geo)logical, (bio)geochemical, and ecological responses of the cold region critical zone to climate warming. The hydrological responses, including earlier snowmelt, earlier spring thaw, deepening of the active layer, and intensified freeze-thaw cycles, are expected to enhance surface water–groundwater interactions, for example, through more intense exchanges along open taliks. The changing hydrological and soil thermal regimes can further amplify biogeochemical cycling in the subsurface, including higher soil carbon turnover, solute leaching, and microbially driven anaerobic processes that, together, may alter the quality of both surface water and groundwater. At the same time, a warming climate causes shifts in the composition and structure of the aboveground vegetation and subsurface macro- and microbiota. Abbreviations: GHG: greenhouse gas; OC, organic carbon; S(–II), sulfide sulfur; Fe(III), ferric iron containing minerals.

permafrost area that is either closed (isolated) or open (interconnected) and drainage of thermokarst rivers and lakes often cause ambient active layers to fail to refreeze over the winter season (20).

Overall, mean annual heat fluxes from the ground surface down into the permafrost or seasonally frozen ground are increasing over the years. These heat fluxes, however, are modulated by interactions among soil properties, including seasonal variations in soil moisture, snow cover and vegetation, as well as the near-surface water redistribution and mid-winter thermal anomalies that positively or negatively affect the ground stability (9). Consequently, the heat fluxes vary spatially and temporally, which complicates the predictive understanding of the evolution of permafrost and the intensities of soil freeze-thaw cycles in seasonally frozen areas.

Physics-based analytical approaches to estimate the changes in soil heat fluxes due to climate warming include the Kudryavtsev and modified Stefan models (4). More advanced numerical models, however, may perform better when addressing more complex freeze-thaw and snow cover conditions, for instance, by explicitly coupling heat transfer calculations and subsurface water dynamics (21). Nonetheless, most models consider only vertical heat transfer and thus cannot account for lateral variations in heat transfer resulting from heterogeneous hydrothermal properties in the subsurface (22).

2.2. Hydrological Responses

Climate-driven degradation of the ice-rich permafrost alters the water balance and hydrological processes as well as their seasonal dynamics within the cold region critical zone (4, 16). Specifically, permafrost thaw can connect previously separated vertical and lateral flow paths, resulting in larger subsurface water fluxes. It also alters the landscape within a short period of time, enhancing surface water routing and runoff (20). It has been postulated that the 7% increase in the base flow of the six largest Eurasian rivers draining into the Arctic Ocean between 1936 and 1999 is due jointly to increased suprapermafrost water flow and enhanced regional groundwater discharges from discontinuous permafrost zones (23). In addition, by removing ice from the soil's large interconnected pore spaces, deepening thaw increases the soil's hydraulic conductivity and modifies the timing and extent of winter and spring runoff (4).

Changes in the depth and duration of seasonally frozen ground control soil hydrological processes such as snowmelt infiltration, runoff, and soil moisture. For instance, the ground snow depth tends to correlate negatively with the freeze depth, but positively with the active layer thaw depth, hence generating strong couplings between variations in surface temperature, snowmelt, and soil moisture (24). Less snow accumulation may result in sufficiently deep frost penetration to impede snowmelt infiltration and enhance overland runoff to the surface water network (16). Therefore, in general, peak winter surface flows are followed by declining spring and early summer runoff. Increased runoff and flooding in the surface and active layer system in turn increases the soil temperature, further deepening the active layer (25). This positive feedback intensifies the water cycle and accelerates the changes in subsurface water and heat flows.

The compounded interactions between the hydrological and thermal regimes render the analysis and prediction of impacts on hydrological processes at different scales fairly challenging (9, 26). This has been shown when assessing the consequences of variable snowpack development on surface water–groundwater exchanges (27). For example, an analysis of a 52-year hillslope runoff record near Swift Current, Canada, indicated decreasing snowmelt runoff and spring soil moisture in response to winter snowfall decline (28). By contrast, a whole-catchment analysis for the same region suggested a multifold increase in snowmelt runoff since 1975, regardless of the decreasing snowfall (29, 30). These results illustrate the need for a careful consideration of both spatial and time scales when interpreting hydrological responses to climate warming in cold regions. Thermokarst: a land surface configuration resembling karst that results from the thawing of ice-rich permafrost and/or massive ice

2.3. Surface Water-Groundwater Interactions

Groundwater in cold regions represents a secure, long-term water resource for northern communities. In Canada's New Brunswick, for instance, more than 66% of the population relies on groundwater for their drinking water supply (31). Groundwater also moderates regional variations in the streamflow and enhances ecosystem resilience toward hydroclimatic extremes, regional population growth, and industrial development (32). A warming climate tends to intensify water and heat exchanges between groundwater and surface water bodies, in particular the groundwater recharge and discharge fluxes (19, 33).

In permafrost areas, groundwater resides in the suprapermafrost, intrapermafrost, and subpermafrost aquifers. Increases in surface water infiltration and groundwater discharge to the surface network may occur when the permafrost thaws and enhances subsurface transmissivity (34). The formation of lateral suprapermafrost taliks underlying the active layers can further cause a spatial shift in groundwater discharge from upslope to downslope, as well as a temporal shift with more groundwater discharge in the winter (35). In continuous permafrost, subsurface water exchange through open taliks tends to intensify regional groundwater circulation (36), whereas upwelling of deep groundwater enhances heat transfer, further expanding talik development within the permafrost (37).

The strengthened connectivity between groundwater and surface water compartments raises the possibility of a transition from a surface water–dominated to a groundwater–dominated hydrology across vast areas of the Holarctic region as well as possibly in mountainous regions (34, 38). A diagnostic signature of this shift is the reduced seasonal variability of stream discharge and water temperature as proportionally more water is supplied through the subsurface. In areas of seasonally frozen ground, surface water–groundwater interactions are primarily modulated by the seasonality of groundwater recharge and subsequent discharge into the surface water network (26, 39). For instance, a reduction in seasonal freeze depth, due to the rising winter soil temperature, favors infiltration of melting water that can ultimately reach the underlying aquifer (18, 40). This then increases deep flow as well as early and late season groundwater discharge (26).

The complex spatiotemporal variations in subsurface water pathways and fluxes, together with the lack of baseline information, hinder the detailed and scale-dependent prediction of groundwater dynamics in cold regions. Nonetheless, advances have been made by combining existing observational data with numerical model-based simulations of the hydrogeology in high-elevation, boreal, and Arctic regions (4, 6). The existing thermohydraulic models usually couple a Richards-type equation for subsurface water flow to a Fourier-type equation for heat transfer while accounting for the energy exchanges during phase changes (9). The modeling efforts, including comparing the effects of future climate change to those in temperate regions, are helping to better quantify the responses to climate forcing of subsurface hydrology (e.g., changes in active layer thickness, depth and duration of seasonally frozen ground, and timing and magnitude of groundwater recharge and discharge). Considerable work is, however, required to link these dynamic and evolving hydrogeological processes to their consequences for water chemistry and subsurface biogeochemical processes.

3. HYDROGEOCHEMICAL RESPONSES

3.1. Soil and Groundwater Geochemical Responses

Increased frequency and magnitude of freeze-thaw cycles in (sub)boreal and mountainous regions may intensify the deformation of the soil structure and change aggregate stability (33, 41). When soils freeze, exclusion of dissolved ions from the ice increases their concentrations in the residual

water films. This can induce clay particles to flocculate and cementing minerals, e.g., calcite, silica, gypsum, and iron (hydr)oxides, to precipitate at the interfaces between primary particles and smaller aggregates (8, 42). As a consequence of the mechanical fragmentation of the coarser minerals and the aggregation of the fine particles, the particle size distribution of the soils may become increasingly homogeneous over time, leading to the formation of loess-like deposits.

Variations in the cryogenic structure of seasonally frozen soils may also lead to the remobilization and redistribution of ionic and mineralogical components. Increasing soil temperature decreases the solubility of carbonate minerals and that of atmospheric gases but increases the solubility of most other minerals (43). Porewater solutes may move vertically under the control of thermal and concentration gradients that shift across summer and winter seasons. For instance, migration of ions, including Na⁺, Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺, SO₄²⁻, and HCO₃⁻, up to the depth of seasonal temperature alternations was reported for permafrost soils along the Russian Arctic coast over a 12-year period (44, 45).

Rising winter soil temperatures and enhanced shallow groundwater flow through organic soils increase the microbially mediated decomposition of soil organic matter (SOM), even at subzero temperatures (46). This, in turn, increases the annual export and seasonal variability of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) delivered to cold region streams, rivers, lakes, and coastal zones (47–49). How future climate warming will continue to affect soil DOC mobilization and subsequent utilization by aquatic microorganisms remains a major source of uncertainty in global carbon cycle projections. Similarly, the mineralization of soil organic nitrogen and subsequent leaching to groundwater and receiving surface waters has important consequences for water quality and GHG emissions (Section 3.2).

In addition to direct temperature effects, the growing hydrogeological connectivity in cold regions affects chemical fluxes by changing the residence time of water in the critical zone, as well as the pathways and magnitude of groundwater flow (7). By acting as the suprapermafrost aquifer, the active layer provides the contact time and environmental conditions for mineral dissolution, organic matter degradation, and nutrient transformations to significantly alter the water chemistry (33, 50). Increasing groundwater contributions to streamflow may then elevate the concentrations of dissolved inorganic solids, carbon, nitrogen, and other nutrients in the receiving surface waters (51, 52). Further characterization of the hydrochemistry, including stable isotope measurements, of the various water compartments will be required to fully understand the solute sources, transformations, and transport pathway in the cold regions (33). This knowledge, in turn, is essential to make informed predictions of how water quality will respond to climate change and other anthropogenic pressures.

3.2. Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Arctic and (sub)boreal ecosystems are not necessarily net sources of CO₂. In fact, boreal forests characterized by dense tree stands may assimilate more CO₂ from the atmosphere than they release, resulting in annual net ecosystem uptake fluxes of up to 270 g C m⁻² year⁻¹ (53). Northern peatlands act as net sinks of atmospheric CO₂ with current accumulation rates of approximately 0.1 Pg C year⁻¹ (54). In contrast, the Holarctic region is a major net source of CH₄, in part because historically trapped CH₄ is released upon permafrost thaw (55). Nitrogen limitation inherent to many cold ecosystems usually produces only small N₂O fluxes to the atmosphere (56).

Freeze-thaw cycles of the active layer and seasonally frozen soils affect the emission of GHGs by modulating the spatial and temporal distributions of soil moisture and temperature, that is, two key environmental variables controlling soil respiration and fermentation processes (57). Under frozen conditions, the liquid water available within the soils can still support microbial metabolic

SOM: soil organic matter

DOC: dissolved organic carbon

Soil respiration:

comprises the rapid turnover of root exudates (autotrophic respiration) and the slower degradation of soil organic matter (heterotrophic respiration) processes that mineralize SOM and produce CO_2 (58, 59). Thawing of frozen soils also causes a burst release of gases entrapped over the winter season when exchanges with the atmosphere are limited, because the soil's surface layer is frozen (55). For example, the N₂O emissions in the winter and following spring thawing may account for a considerable fraction of the annual total N₂O emission, up to 50%, in drained agricultural peatlands (56, 60).

In addition to regulating temperature and moisture regimes, soil freeze-thaw cycles can enhance the mineralization of organic carbon and nutrients through the breakdown of soil aggregates and the die-off of fine roots and microorganisms (61). These increase substrate supply to the active microbial community, which in turn favors the production of GHGs even during the non-growing season (62). For example, because of low soil temperatures and reduced root uptake of nutrients in the winter, the end-product of denitrification may increasingly shift toward N_2O , rather than N_2 , despite the overall slower denitrification rate (63).

The feedback between GHG emissions and climate warming raises concerns about possible abrupt (nonlinear) effects in cold regions where accelerating hydro(geo)logical and biogeochemical responses may cause significant changes in the magnitude and even the direction of GHG fluxes over relatively short periods of time. Reliable quantification of the major environmental controls on soil GHG emissions over space and time in cold regions is therefore particularly imperative (10). Among these factors, winter soil conditions, the preceding vegetation growth activity, and disturbances such as wildfires appear to play important, albeit incompletely understood, roles in the annual GHG emission budgets (62, 64, 65). Vegetation also plays a role in the transport of GHG to and from the atmosphere, for example, by facilitating CH₄ emissions to the atmosphere along tree stems or via the aerenchyma (66).

3.3. Contaminant Fate and Transport

The environmental assessment of contaminants in cold regions includes the identification of sources, mobilization processes, delivery to the hydrological network, and ecosystem and human health impacts. Contaminants originate either locally from autochthonous sources, e.g., emissions from mine tailings, or remotely from allochthonous sources, which is the case of volatile pollutants transported via the atmosphere (67). The latter may involve transport over very long distances, via so-called long-range atmospheric transport, with sources that are distant from the cold regions where the negative impacts occur. For example, gaseous elemental mercury and methylmercury can travel across continents and oceans before ultimately being deposited in the Arctic (68).

The release of geogenic contaminants, such as arsenic, uranium, and copper, from the dissolution of minerals present in the critical zone depends on the physicochemical conditions in the subsurface (69). The latter are closely associated with the microbially mediated degradation of SOM. For example, mineralization of organic carbon by heterotrophic bacteria produces dissolved (bi)carbonate ions that form strong aqueous complexes with uranium(VI), hence facilitating uranium release to, and transport by, groundwater (70). In a similar vein, DOC leached during SOM degradation may form aqueous complexes with trace metals, whereas microbial respiration may lead to the development of anoxic conditions that favor the mobilization of iron(III) oxide–bound arsenic (71).

From the above, it follows that permafrost degradation can significantly increase the risks of contaminants reaching groundwater and surface water resources in cold regions (72). Warming conditions, by stimulating microbial activities in the shallow subsurface, expanding hydrological connectivity, and increasing surface and subsurface water flows, may therefore increase threats to water quality and related ecosystem functions and services. Snowmelt may result in the rapid runoff to aquatic ecosystems of contaminants deposited from the atmosphere, such as mercury

and persistent organic pollutants (POPs) (73). Forest fires are an additional source of contaminants, including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons produced during high-temperature biomass combustion (74).

The soil freeze-thaw cycles significantly affect the fate and transport of contaminants. Typically, the mobilization of POPs and nutrients is reduced when the ground freezes and enhanced when the ground thaws (67). Thus, thawing alters the timing at which the contaminants enter the hydrosphere. Equally important are the chemical forms under which the contaminants occur, as soluble inorganic ions are likely to be released early on whereas hydrophobic organic compounds may exhibit significant lag times (67). The chemical speciation of contaminants also determines their bioavailability and toxicity and, hence, the resulting ecological and public health risks.

3.4. Hyporheic and Riparian Zones

Cold regions' stream corridors, including their hyporheic and riparian zones, experience preferential thaw. Streams with steeper topographical gradients generally show higher variations in freeze-thaw depths, in comparison with lower gradient streams that usually maintain deeper thaw depths over a longer time (75). Furthermore, differences in stream bed sediments result in longer hyporheic pathways and shorter water residence times in alluvial stream reaches relative to peatdominated reaches (76).

Similar to temperate and (sub)tropical regions, the hyporheic and riparian zones of streams and rivers in cold regions are biogeochemical hotspots (77). Biogeochemical activities in these transitional environments may vary abruptly with the timing of periods of high activity and chemical exchanges, that is, hot moments, closely tied to stream hydrology and hillslope freeze-thaw processes (76, 78). Interestingly, rates of microbially mediated biogeochemical reactions in the hyporheic zone of some Arctic streams are comparable to those in temperate zones (79), likely reflecting the adaptation of the hyporheic microbial communities to the ambient cold temperatures.

Because surface waters in cold regions are typically nutrient (co)limited, hyporheic exchanges may become an important source of nutrients to the river network and the receiving lakes and coastal areas. Tracer experiments in four Arctic stream reaches did show that the hyporheic zone is a hotspot for organic matter mineralization, ammonification, and nitrification, resulting in the net release of nitrate, ammonium, dissolved phosphate, and CO_2 to the streams (79).

4. SOIL ECOLOGICAL RESPONSES

4.1. Microbial Communities

Microbes play key roles in soil organic carbon (SOC) turnover, nutrient cycling, and pore water quality, all of which influence aboveground plant productivity (80). Soil microbial communities mainly comprise bacteria and fungi, the primary consumers of dead organic matter (decomposers), plus archaea, protists, and viruses. Because of low soil temperatures, together with limited liquid water availability, soil microbial ecosystems in cold regions tend to be relatively simple and functionally limited in nutrient cycling, compared with their temperate counterparts (81, 82).

Soil microbial communities rapidly adjust to new conditions and are therefore vulnerable to disturbances such as those accompanying climate warming (83, 84). In degrading permafrost, for example, specific members of the microbial community respond preferentially to the rising temperature and availability of energy and growth substrates released during thaw (83, 84). In Alpine and Arctic ecosystems, the snowpack insulates soil microbial communities from the harsh winter conditions (85). Increasing or decreasing snowpack depth may therefore strongly affect

POPs: persistent organic pollutants

SOC: soil organic carbon the soil's geomicrobial functioning. For instance, in Alpine pastures, the activities and abundances of nitrifiers and denitrifiers are significantly enhanced when the winter snowpack is thin or even absent (85).

In addition to conventional biomass determinations and phospholipid fatty acid analyses, recent developments in molecular biology allow for the detailed DNA- and RNA-based assessments of microbial community compositions in cold subsurface sites (86, 87). Whereas bacteria have received comparatively more attention, the responses of soil archaea and protists to climate change impacts have been less well characterized. Soil warming, however, has been shown to change the abundance, species diversity, and assemblage composition of testate amoebae even after one growing season (88). The impacts of warming on the diversity and activity of viruses are poorly understood, despite their relatively high abundance in cold ecosystems and their potentially significant effect on soil microbial community dynamics (89).

The responses of soil microbial communities to climate warming are heavily context dependent with frequently no clear emerging patterns that can easily be generalized. In part, this is attributed to the variable nature of the climate forcings, e.g., long-term (decadal) versus short-term (seasonal) warming, or the gradual increase in average air temperature versus extreme hydroclimatic events (90). Furthermore, microbial responses are highly interactive and heavily influenced by changes in hydrology, soil properties, and other (soil) organisms (91). For example, responses of soil microbes to variations in surface temperature may differ dramatically depending on their position along the soil profile (90).

The characterization of the soil microbial community structure is often accompanied by microbial activity measurements, such as mineralization rates (92), GHG emissions (93), and microbial enzyme activities (94). The responses inferred from these two types of observations, however, are often difficult to reconcile. For example, whereas the experimental warming of a subarctic peatland caused measurable variations in enzyme activities, no changes in the microbial community composition were detected (94). Metatranscriptomics may help unravel the underlying reasons for these apparent inconsistencies (95).

4.2. Faunal Communities

Small soil fauna, in particular nematodes, participate in organic matter turnover by mineralizing nitrogen and carbon and, thus, represent a key component of the soil food web. Macrofauna, such as earthworms, can change the structure of SOM and alter soil porosity when they migrate to deeper soil horizons to avoid the upper frozen layer (96). In turn, this creates vertical flow paths in deeper soil horizons that alter infiltration processes and enable macropore flow.

Under extreme cold climate conditions, macrofauna are largely absent and smaller soil faunal communities, for example, microarthropods (collembola and mites), enchytraeids, and nematodes, tend to dominate the faunal impacts on soil ecological responses. As changes in the faunal community composition may play a disproportionally large role in soil functioning (97), there is a need to understand the effects of global climate warming on the fauna within the critical zone, as well as the consequences for the winter activities of soil biota.

Existing evidence from experimental climate manipulations and long-term field observations indicate that the effects of climate warming on soil faunal communities are mostly modulated through water availability (98). In North American boreal forests, four years of imposed warming had little effect on SOM decomposition by invertebrate detritivores (99). A reduction by 40% of summer precipitation, however, resulted in a reduction in feeding activity by almost 14%. These results imply slower SOM biodegradation than generally expected, and thus a weaker positive feedback to climate warming.

Climate warming alters faunal vertical zonation, which in turn impacts carbon release from different soil layers (100). Additionally, climate warming may change predator–prey interactions with considerable consequences for soil ecosystem functioning in cold regions (101). Notably, most of the existing studies support the assumption that soil microarthropods are bottom-up controlled, and the observed changes are linked more to changes in vegetation and food availability than to direct climatic forcing.

Climate warming in cold regions may not only alter established soil faunal communities but also change the geographic ranges of specific members of the soil fauna. Although soil faunal dispersal is generally slow in cold regions, the combination of human dispersal and climatic change can exponentially accelerate the establishment of new soil ecosystems, including the appearance of invasive organisms (102). The resulting soil biological responses alter the soil food web structure, net soil respiration, and provision of ecosystem services. For example, the establishment of humandispersed burrowing earthworms in subarctic Sweden, although currently still sparse, is expected to have potentially far-reaching consequences for soil hydrology, nutrient cycling, and carbon emissions if continued (103, 104).

In contrast to the long-term climate warming trend, more sudden extreme events, e.g., repeated freeze-thaw cycles, have been shown to negatively impact species survival and community diversity of soil fauna (105). The question, however, remains as to whether the observed responses of the soil fauna community are a direct consequence of the climate forcing or are mediated via responses of the rest of the soil food web.

5. COLD REGION AGRICULTURE AND AGROECOSYSTEMS

5.1. Agricultural Expansion Into Cold Regions

Faced with an ever-increasing demand to feed the world's growing population, agroecosystems are under pressure to maintain high productivity levels while also ensuring their long-term sustainability (106). In cold regions, the relatively short growing season is determined by the early soil frost in autumn and late soil thaw in spring (107). Increasing winter temperatures are therefore causing a lengthening of the growing season that is accompanied by the expansion of agriculture toward higher latitudes and altitudes (**Figure 2**) (13).

Between 1983 and 2004, the growing period for cotton in northern China increased on average by nine days, owing to a corresponding decrease in the number of frost days (108). Meanwhile, between 1980 and 2007, the geographical reach of rice cultivation in northern China moved northward from approximately 48 to 52 °N. With ongoing climate warming, these trends can be expected to continue across many of the world's cold regions. A plausible scenario is that increasing thawing permafrost areas give way to wetland-rich landscapes, which subsequently would be converted into arable land rich in SOM (109). Without proactive management of the new agroecosystems, this could lead to negative environmental impacts of agriculture similar to those seen in temperate regions but exacerbated by the harsh environmental conditions found in cold regions.

5.2. Soil Degradation

To support agricultural intensification, various agricultural practices are introduced, including more extensive tillage and drainage as well as increased application of chemical fertilizers, manure, pesticides, and herbicides. Although these practices increase crop productivity, they may lead to long-term land degradation and loss of natural soil fertility.

The negative impacts of extensive cultivation on fertile, organic-rich grassland may yield lessons for the management of agroecosystems in cold regions. Of particular concern are the often observed decreases in SOM content. For example, Hou et al. (110) investigated the effect of

a Current climate



b

Warmer climate

Figure 2

Hypothetical cold region agroecosystem in a future warmer climate (b) compared to current conditions (a). Panel b illustrates the combined responses (red text) to changes in conditions (blue text) such as shortening of the winter season, expanding cropland, greater fertilizer application, and generally higher air temperature. The shorter winter (i.e., non-growing) season, altered hydrological regime (including reduced snow cover, increased freeze-thaw events, and changing soil moisture status), and agricultural intensification may result in increased nutrient enrichment of surface waters, higher greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, and changes in biodiversity of the cold region agroecosystem.

land use on the stabilization of SOC in the Mollisols of northern China by comparing grassland, cropland, and bare fallow treatments over a period of 10 years. The SOC content decreased on average by 17% in croplands relative to the grasslands, reaching levels close to that of the bare fallow fields. In the same region, another study found that 50% of SOC was lost after 50 years of cultivation, with the decreasing trend likely to continue into the future (111).

The considerable SOC losses that typically accompany the conversion to agriculture call for a sustainable agricultural intensification that in turn requires the implementation of proactive and adaptive management practices and policies (112). For example, the use of animal manure, no-till farming and optimizing the application rates and timing of industrial fertilizers, as well as the introduction of intercropping systems can reduce erosion and protect local biodiversity (110, 113). Maintaining natural wetland, grassland, and forest areas and creating new buffer zones not only help reduce agricultural land degradation but also contribute to the attenuation of excessive nutrient enrichment and contaminant dispersal (114). Protecting against SOC losses and practicing mixed agriculture-agroforestry additionally reduce GHG emissions to the atmosphere.

5.3. Cold Region Agroecosystems Under Climate Change

As northern agroecosystems expand, they will also respond to ongoing climate change, with significant feedbacks to the soil thermal regime and water balance. Crop cultivation may profoundly alter the soil texture through the destruction of the macropore network of the pristine soils (115). In turn, this reduces the soil structural stability and enhances physical erosion. The resulting drop in soil permeability and decrease in infiltration of spring snowmelt further affect the soil moisture conditions and, thus, crop growth.

As for natural landscapes, agroecosystems respond to changes in the depth of snow cover and the patterns of snow accumulation and melting (Figure 2). In particular, decreasing snow depth reduces the insulation capacity of the soil surface and increases the risks of deep soil frost and more intense freeze-thaw cycles in conventionally tilled fields. Knowledge of winter soil

Mollisols: soils

characterized by a thick, organic-rich surface horizon typically forming under a grassland cover

processes, including those related to snow cover dynamics, can help inform farming practices in cold regions. For example, on commercial potato farms in northern Japan, ground snow cover was mechanically removed to induce deep soil frost, in order to kill the weed seeds before the upcoming crop season (116). The same process may take place naturally in areas where climate change is causing a reduction in snow cover (**Figure 2**). Extreme soil freezing, however, may limit the potential for cultivating winter crops (117).

5.4. Biogeochemical and Ecosystem Responses

Agriculture in cold regions can profoundly modify the soil-atmosphere exchanges of CO_2 and other GHGs. Such changes have been observed, for instance, for the cumulative CO_2 release from agricultural Mollisols in northern China following the amendment of plant and animal waste (118) and the application of different tillage methods (119). These changes have in part been ascribed to reduced snow cover on agricultural fields and the resulting deep soil frost that restricts bacterial activities in the plough layer. Interestingly, it was found in one study that the emissions of N₂O from agricultural fields during the winter season was comparable to those during the growing season, whereas this trend was not observed in a nearby forest site (120).

A major anthropogenic driver of environmental change that accompanies the expansion of agroecosystems in cold regions is the increased inputs of nutrients from fertilizer application and animal husbandry. In addition to higher inputs, the export efficiency of these nutrients, in particular nitrogen and phosphorus, tends to be higher for agricultural than natural land cover. For instance, in cold forest ecosystems tree roots provide a persistent supply of easily degradable substrates to the soil's microbial community that in turn enables the retention of soil nutrients (e.g., nitrate) mobilized by soil freeze-thaw events (121). By contrast, harvested agricultural fields are fully exposed to harsh winter conditions. More intense freeze-thaw cycles over the shoulder seasons then increase the risk of nutrient leaching to the groundwater and surface water compartments. In addition, facilitated soil nitrogen mineralization and transformation has the potential to disproportionately increase the export of nitrogen to aquatic systems relative to that of DOC (122). The resultant uncoupling of carbon and nitrogen cycling may further drive the receiving streams and lentic environments toward a more autotrophic state.

Agricultural intensification in cold regions poses significant, but incompletely known, risks to the biodiversity and ecosystem services of the cold regions' critical zone. In particular, the soil biodiversity of cold (agro)ecosystems is relatively low compared with tropical and temperate soils (82, 83). Hence, the soil microbial and faunal communities in cold regions are likely more vulnerable to climate warming, land use changes, contamination, and diseases, including extreme weather events, invasive species, agricultural chemicals, and insect and airborne diseases (123). These threats may, in turn, negatively impact the critical zone's ecosystem functions and increase the risk of diminishing crop and livestock yields (124, 125). By developing ecological resilience to both climatic and anthropogenic forcings, sustainable intensification of agriculture in the existing and new cold agroecosystems offers the potentially best approach to counter unexpected and unintended long-term environmental problems.

6. COLD REGION CRITICAL ZONE RESEARCH: CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

6.1. Some Known Unknowns

A major challenge for critical zone research in general is the complex and sometimes nonintuitive feedbacks between climate forcing, hydro(geo)logical flows, and biogeochemical processes. This may be even more challenging in cold regions where climate warming, changes in land cover and

land use, and human settlement are proceeding at unprecedented rates. Cold region critical zone research will have to be greatly stepped up to generate in a timely fashion the essential knowledge that is required to support sustainable and adaptive environmental management strategies.

As discussed above, agricultural conversion brings about major changes in the biogeochemistry and ecology of seasonally frozen belowground terrestrial environments. However, there is a lack of comparative studies between land under cultivation and that minimally affected by human use. Such comparative studies would help delineate what changes are actually resulting from the agricultural activities and what their extent and impacts are. Agricultural land and water management can, for example, greatly benefit from a clearer understanding of how soil freeze-thaw cycles, soil aggregate stability, and SOC evolve after converting a natural grassland or forest into croplands.

Infrastructure, such as roads and pipelines, mining operations, and geological repositories, also change the seasonally frozen ground and permafrost dramatically, with often irreversible consequences for near-field hydrogeology and ecological functions (126). In turn, permafrost degradation and more intensive freeze-thaw cycles may compromise the stability of artificial structures through frost heave processes and thermokarst development (127). The far-field and global-scale environmental impacts of engineering and construction activities in cold regions remain compar-atively less known.

Given the substantial amounts of SOC and GHGs stored in permafrost areas, the possibility of accelerating, even abrupt, release of GHGs from cold regions over time scales of years remains controversial (10). There is therefore a need for a deeper understanding of the mechanisms that control the magnitude and timing of net ecosystem GHG emissions to the atmosphere from permafrost-degrading areas and the consequences for global climate change.

Research should also focus on how CO_2 production by soil respiration and fermentation processes is being modified by evolving freeze-thaw cycles in cold regions, including the liquid watersupported organic matter biomineralization in frozen soils (59). Similarly, more work is required to characterize the nature and reactivity of DOC exported from cold regions' soils and its subsequent fate along the river-ocean continuum. At the same time, the effects of snow cover dynamics and freeze-thaw cycles in the nongrowing season on the timing and fluxes of nitrogen and phosphorus released from landscapes to aquatic ecosystems deserve further investigations (128, 129).

Liquid water-ice phase transitions in soils of cold regions make subsurface water flow and heat transfer inherently three-dimensional and more complex in comparison to nonfrozen soils. The predictive understanding of water movement and associated solute fluxes during soil freeze-thaw remains incomplete. This is also true for the relationships between winter activities of soil (micro)organisms and hydrological processes and between winter biogeochemical activity and GHG emissions, nutrient availability, and water quality during the subsequent growing season.

6.2. Cold Region Critical Zone Research: The Path Forward

Research at the frontier of critical zone science is highly interdisciplinary and covers multifaceted processes and their interactions, from local to global scales (8, 12). In cold regions, holistic approaches are required to unravel the complex effects of freeze-thaw cycles on soil stability, microbial diversity, nutrient and contaminant mobilization, GHG emissions, and long-term agricultural productivity. The acquisition and analysis of complementary, multidisciplinary datasets will test the extent to which existing conceptual and quantitative models adequately represent the functioning of the cold region critical zone.

The international CZO network has been highly successful in delivering high-quality time series datasets that enable the integration and upscaling of site-specific knowledge (130). The establishment of additional CZOs in cold regions would strengthen the actionable knowledge that can inform adaptive policies and management strategies to address ongoing and potential

future environmental impacts of climate warming and land use change on these rapidly changing regions of the world.

New observatories would help compensate for the scarcity of historical data and contextual information on many cold regions. As such, long-term CZOs could significantly enhance the science-based management of cold regions' natural resources and ecosystems (including agro-ecosystems) and the services they provide. In many countries, however, the creation and operation of new CZOs may be economically challenging. This emphasizes the need for international collaboration with multi-institutional teams who share expertise, equipment, and personnel; participate in the design and implementation of joint field experiments; and provide access to each other's datasets, facilities, and research networks.

6.3. Technological Opportunities

Despite the demanding field conditions, there is a need for on-site measurements of master variables in the cold region critical zone. For example, vertical temperature distributions in permafrost are mostly model-derived based on the surface temperature conditions (131). Nevertheless, the variable insulation by snow cover and lateral heat transfer may complicate the relationship between surface and in situ temperatures. Direct, high-resolution measurements of soil temperature distributions together with innovative methods to monitor the range and thickness of snow cover, including, for example, acoustic sounding, remain a priority in cold region research.

Portable instruments and flexible sample collection devices may greatly boost our capacity to decipher the dynamic hydrochemistry and biogeochemistry of soils and aquifers in cold regions. As an example, the diffusive gradients in thin films (DGT) (132) is an effective method to collect, concentrate, and preserve labile solutes in situ. This technique has been used to measure high-resolution (mm-scale) depth profiles (133) and two-dimensional solute distributions in the pore waters of soils and sediments (134) and to generate proxy information on the bioavailability of aqueous components in various environments (135), including in the rhizosphere (136). Although DGT deployments in cold region studies are fairly recent, the method shows promise in helping solve water quality monitoring problems, such as tracing heavy metal contamination linked to anthropogenic activities in Antarctica and Greenland (137, 138).

Other opportunities in cold region subsurface research include the use of geophysical methods, remote sensing, and isotopic tracing. Among the various geophysical methods, those based on variations in the electrical properties of the subsurface are among the most promising for hydrochemical and biogeochemical applications (139). The areal coverage of geophysical methods fills the gap between local site investigations and airborne remote sensing surveys. Geophysical methods have been successful in monitoring the seasonal variations in active layer thickness, acquiring high-resolution profiles of soil moisture, and determining the distribution of open taliks (4).

Remote sensing is bound to play a growing role in complementing in situ measurements and geophysical surveys. High-spatial resolution remote sensing has been used to map near-surface permafrost and estimate the active layer thickness in the Arctic region (140). The combination of multisensor observational data with deep learning methods will further expand the reach of remote sensing and contribute to regional-scale and long-term trend analyses of environmental changes in the cold region critical zone.

Natural radionuclides can help trace the rates and mechanisms of sedimentation (141), the intensity of surface water–groundwater interactions (142), and particle transport and scavenging in cold regions (143). Artificial radionuclides (e.g., isotopes of cesium, iodine, strontium, and plutonium) and other smart tracers add to the toolbox to decipher hydrological pathways and erosional processes across cold regions (144, 145). In addition, techniques based on the

www.annualreviews.org • Cold Region Critical Zone in Transition 125

Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 2021.46:111-134. Downloaded from www.annualreviews.org Access provided by Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences on 12/13/21. See copyright for approved use.

Diffusive gradients in thin films (DGT): a passive sampling method where labile components move through a diffusive layer and accumulate in a binding-gel layer fractionation of natural stable isotopes (e.g., ¹³C, ¹⁵N, and ³⁴S) represent a powerful tool to unravel biogeochemical transformations in cold soils and agroecosystems (146).

7. CONCLUSIONS

The cold regions contain vast reserves of freshwater and biodiversity and provide key provisioning and cultural ecosystem services to local communities. They also offer many opportunities for further resource development and the expansion of agriculture. The cold regions are also experiencing rapid environmental change with far-reaching implications for people and ecosystems, regional hydrology and biodiversity, and global climate feedbacks. The changing winter conditions are among the greatest threats to high-altitude watersheds where retreating snowpacks and earlier snowmelt are causing decreases in mean annual streamflow and peak runoff earlier in the year, as well as to the Holarctic areas where the joint effects of rising surface temperature, invigorated water cycling, and enhanced organic matter mobilization likely lead to nonintuitive consequences for the critical zone and the associated agroecosystems. Shifts in these systems in turn exhibit feedbacks to the climate system and thus extend environmental impacts on the regional and global scales. Consequently, the hydrology, ecology, and biogeochemistry of the cold region critical zone present unique features and response dynamics that are not found elsewhere. Therefore, there is ample need to better understand how and why critical zone properties and processes in the cold regions, in particular those occurring in the subsurface compartments, are changing in response to global warming, land use change, and other environmental drivers.

SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. The pathways and fluxes of water between soil water, groundwater, and surface water compartments play a central role in the soil moisture and temperature distributions, near-surface energy exchanges, and regional water cycles; however, the hydro(geo)logical connections remain to be fully unraveled through both conceptual and quantitative understanding.
- The knowledge and data on soil porewater and groundwater hydrochemistry and their dynamic responses to climate forcings remain fragmentary at best. This limits our ability to observe and predictively simulate the mobility and chemical speciation of nutrients and contaminants in cold regions.
- The community structures of cold subsurface microbiota and fauna, as well as the controls on their metabolic activities and ecological interactions, require further explorations.
- 4. The seasonal effects of winter weather conditions, crop management, and fertilizer applications on soil organic matter mineralization, nutrient dynamics, and soil structure require better characterization and understanding. This will inform agroecosystem adaptation strategies, including the sustainable intensification of agriculture, that help counteract negative impacts of climate change in cold regions.
- 5. The knowledge gaps identified above, and many other ones, would benefit from the expansion of CZOs linked to each other across the world's cold regions. These observatories should enable the deployment of monitoring methods that can detect dynamic environmental changes at the landscape scale.

FUTURE ISSUES

- 1. The dynamic hydraulic properties of frozen and partially saturated soils add more complexity to the spatiotemporal heterogeneity of hydrogeological processes but, overall, may lead to a drier land surface.
- 2. In addition to the GHG emissions, the cold region critical zone may experience accelerated transport of DOC, nutrients, and contaminants from the local to regional scales, and to constrain the associated groundwater quality problems, we need a far deeper mechanistic understanding of the coupled geophysical, hydrological, and biogeochemical processes that regulate the hydrochemistry of water compartments in cold regions.
- 3. Climate change will continue to enhance changes in soil biological communities that lead to shifts in the higher consumers being supported and the functions and services of the cold ecosystems, including their resilience to invasive species and water plus nutrient stress.
- 4. The complex impacts of anthropogenic perturbations on soil hydrology and biogeochemical cycling, and their responses to projected climate change, call for more attention to the management of existing and new agroecosystems in cold regions.
- 5. Systematic monitoring at the cold region CZOs, including during the winter and shoulder seasons, will be crucial to establish baseline information, capture delayed ecosystem responses to altered environmental forcings, and scale process understanding up to whole-watershed impacts on, among others, water quality, stream and groundwater flow, biogeochemical cycles, and the provision of ecosystem services.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This article is the outcome of discussions by the authors during two workshops, one held in Heilongjiang Province, China, in April 2019, the other in Uppsala, Sweden, in September 2019. The authors acknowledge the hospitality and logistical support provided during the workshops by the Heilongjiang Institute of Geological Survey and the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. The collaborative efforts were financially supported by the University of Waterloo's International Research Partnership Grants program, the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant 41521001), a "111" Project of the Ministry of Education of China and State Administration of Foreign Experts Affairs (Grant B18049), the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities, China University of Geosciences (Wuhan), the Winter Soil Processes project of the Global Water Futures Program funded by the Canada First Excellence Research Fund, and the international research fund of the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.

LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Hansen J, Ruedy R, Sato M, Lo K. 2010. Global surface temperature change. Rev. Geophys. 48:RG4004
- Hansen J, Sato M, Ruedy R, Lo K, Lea DW, Medina-Elizade M. 2006. Global temperature change. PNAS 103:14288–93

- Seneviratne SI, Donat MG, Mueller B, Alexander LV. 2014. No pause in the increase of hot temperature extremes. Nat. Clim. Change 4:161–63
- Walvoord MA, Kurylyk BL. 2016. Hydrologic impacts of thawing permafrost—a review. Vadose Zone 7. 15. https://doi.org/10.2136/vzj2016.01.0010
- Stewart IT. 2009. Changes in snowpack and snowmelt runoff for key mountain regions. *Hydrol. Proc. Int. j.* 23:78–94
- Bring A, Fedorova I, Dibike Y, Hinzman L, Mård J, et al. 2016. Arctic terrestrial hydrology: a synthesis of processes, regional effects, and research challenges. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosci. 121:621–49
- Vonk JE, Tank SE, Bowden WB, Laurion I, Vincent WF, et al. 2015. Reviews and syntheses: effects of permafrost thaw on Arctic aquatic ecosystems. *Biogeosciences* 12:7129–67
- Hayashi M. 2013. The cold vadose zone: hydrological and ecological significance of frozen-soil processes. Vadose Zone J. 12. https://doi.org/10.2136/vzj2013.03.0064
- Kurylyk BL, MacQuarrie KT, McKenzie JM. 2014. Climate change impacts on groundwater and soil temperatures in cold and temperate regions: implications, mathematical theory, and emerging simulation tools. *Earth-Sci. Rev.* 138:313–34
- Schuur E, McGuire AD, Schädel C, Grosse G, Harden J, et al. 2015. Climate change and the permafrost carbon feedback. *Nature* 520:171–79
- Wilson CG, Abban B, Keefer LL, Wacha K, Dermisis D, et al. 2018. The Intensively Managed Landscape Critical Zone Observatory: a scientific testbed for understanding critical zone processes in agroecosystems. Vadose Zone J. 17. https://doi.org/10.2136/vzj2018.04.0088
- Guo L, Lin H. 2016. Critical zone research and observatories: current status and future perspectives. Vadose Zone J. 15. https://doi.org/10.2136/vzj2016.06.0050
- King M, Altdorff D, Li P, Galagedara L, Holden J, Unc A. 2018. Northward shift of the agricultural climate zone under 21st-century global climate change. *Sci. Rep.* 8:7904
- Wang C, Wang Z, Kong Y, Zhang F, Yang K, Zhang T. 2019. Most of the Northern Hemisphere permafrost remains under climate change. Sci. Rep. 9:3295
- Henry HA. 2008. Climate change and soil freezing dynamics: historical trends and projected changes. Clim. Change 87:421–34
- Tetzlaff D, Soulsby C, Buttle J, Capell R, Carey SK, et al. 2013. Catchments on the cusp? Structural and functional change in northern ecohydrology. *Hydrol. Proc.* 27:766–74
- Guo D, Wang H. 2017. Simulated historical (1901–2010) changes in the permafrost extent and active layer thickness in the Northern Hemisphere. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 122:12285–95
- Peng X, Frauenfeld OW, Cao B, Wang K, Wang H, et al. 2016. Response of changes in seasonal soil freeze/thaw state to climate change from 1950 to 2010 across China. *J. Geophys. Res. Earth Surf.* 121:1984– 2000
- Evans SG, Ge S. 2017. Contrasting hydrogeologic responses to warming in permafrost and seasonally frozen ground hillslopes. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 44:1803–13
- Connon RF, Quinton WL, Craig JR, Hayashi M. 2014. Changing hydrologic connectivity due to permafrost thaw in the lower Liard River valley, NWT, Canada. *Hydrol. Proc.* 28:4163–78
- Zhang Y, Cheng G, Li X, Han X, Wang L, et al. 2013. Coupling of a simultaneous heat and water model with a distributed hydrological model and evaluation of the combined model in a cold region watershed. *Hydrol. Proc.* 27:3762–76
- 22. Wu M, Jansson P-E, Tan X, Wu J, Huang J. 2016. Constraining parameter uncertainty in simulations of water and heat dynamics in seasonally frozen soil using limited observed data. *Water* 8:64
- Peterson BJ, Holmes RM, McClelland JW, Vörösmarty CJ, Lammers RB, et al. 2002. Increasing river discharge to the Arctic Ocean. Science 298:2171–73
- Lundberg A, Ala-Aho P, Eklo O, Klöve B, Kværner J, Stumpp C. 2016. Snow and frost: implications for spatiotemporal infiltration patterns—a review. *Hydrol. Proc.* 30:1230–50
- Zheng L, Overeem I, Wang K, Clow GD. 2019. Changing Arctic river dynamics cause localized permafrost thaw. J. Geophys. Res. Earth Surf. 124:2324–44
- Ireson AM, Van Der Kamp G, Ferguson G, Nachshon U, Wheater HS. 2013. Hydrogeological processes in seasonally frozen northern latitudes: understanding, gaps and challenges. *Hydrogeol. J.* 21:53–66

- Brooks PD, Chorover J, Ying F, Godsey SE, Maxwell RM, et al. 2015. Hydrological partitioning in the critical zone: recent advances and opportunities for developing transferrable understanding of water cycle dynamics. *Water Resourc. Res.* 51:6973–87
- Coles A, McConkey B, McDonnell J. 2017. Climate change impacts on hillslope runoff on the northern Great Plains, 1962–2013. J. Hydrol. 550:538–48
- Dumanski S, Pomeroy JW, Westbrook CJ. 2015. Hydrological regime changes in a Canadian Prairie basin. *Hydrol. Proc.* 29:3893–904
- Ryberg KR, Akyüz FA, Wiche GJ, Lin W. 2016. Changes in seasonality and timing of peak streamflow in snow and semi-arid climates of the north-central United States, 1910–2012. *Hydrol. Proc.* 30:1208–18
- McGuigan CF, Hamula CL, Huang S, Gabos S, Le XC. 2010. A review on arsenic concentrations in Canadian drinking water. *Environ. Rev.* 18:291–307
- Carey SK, Tetzlaff D, Seibert J, Soulsby C, Buttle J, et al. 2010. Inter-comparison of hydro-climatic regimes across northern catchments: synchronicity, resistance and resilience. *Hydrol. Proc.* 24:3591–602
- Cochand M, Molson J, Lemieux JM. 2019. Groundwater hydrogeochemistry in permafrost regions. Permafrost Periglac. Proc. 30:90–103
- Bense V, Kooi H, Ferguson G, Read T. 2012. Permafrost degradation as a control on hydrogeological regime shifts in a warming climate. J. Geophys. Res. Earth Surf. 117:F03036
- Lamontagne-Hallé P, McKenzie JM, Kurylyk BL, Zipper SC. 2018. Changing groundwater discharge dynamics in permafrost regions. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 13:084017
- Kane DL, Yoshikawa K, McNamara JP. 2013. Regional groundwater flow in an area mapped as continuous permafrost, NE Alaska (USA). *Hydrogeol. J.* 21:41–52
- Rowland JC, Travis BJ, Wilson CJ. 2011. The role of advective heat transport in talik development beneath lakes and ponds in discontinuous permafrost. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 38:L17504
- Green TR, Taniguchi M, Kooi H, Gurdak JJ, Allen DM, et al. 2011. Beneath the surface of global change: impacts of climate change on groundwater. J. Hydrol. 405:532–60
- Grinevskii SO, Pozdnyakov SP. 2010. Principles of regional estimation of infiltration groundwater recharge based on geohydrological models. *Water Resourc*. 37:638–52
- Dzhamalov RG, Frolova NL, Telegina EA. 2015. Winter runoff variations in European Russia. Water Resourc. 42:758–65
- Brouchkov A. 2002. Nature and distribution of frozen saline sediments on the Russian Arctic coast. Permafrost Periglac. Proc. 13:83–90
- 42. Chang D, Liu J. 2013. Review of the influence of freeze-thaw cycles on the physical and mechanical properties of soil. *Sci. Cold Arid Regions* 5:457–60
- Frey KE, Siegel DI, Smith LC. 2007. Geochemistry of west Siberian streams and their potential response to permafrost degradation. *Water Resourc. Res.* 43:W03406
- Brouchkov A. 2000. Salt and water transfer in frozen soils induced by gradients of temperature and salt content. *Permafrost Periglac. Proc.* 11:153–60
- Lopez CL, Brouchkov A, Nakayama H, Takakai F, Fedorov A, Fukuda M. 2007. Epigenetic salt accumulation and water movement in the active layer of central Yakutia in eastern Siberia. *Hydrol. Proc. Int. J.* 21:103–9
- Öquist MG, Sparrman T, Klemedtsson L, Drotz SH, Grip H, et al. 2009. Water availability controls microbial temperature responses in frozen soil CO₂ production. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 15:2715–22
- Laudon H, Tetzlaff D, Soulsby C, Carey S, Seibert J, et al. 2013. Change in winter climate will affect dissolved organic carbon and water fluxes in mid-to-high latitude catchments. *Hydrol. Proc.* 27:700–9
- Haei M, Öquist MG, Buffam I, Ågren A, Blomkvist P, et al. 2010. Cold winter soils enhance dissolved organic carbon concentrations in soil and stream water. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 37:L08501
- Haei M, Öquist MG, Kreyling J, Ilstedt U, Laudon H. 2013. Winter climate controls soil carbon dynamics during summer in boreal forests. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 8:024017
- Tetzlaff D, Buttle J, Carey SK, McGuire K, Laudon H, Soulsby C. 2015. Tracer-based assessment of flow paths, storage and runoff generation in northern catchments: a review. *Hydrol. Proc.* 29:3475–90
- Colombo N, Salerno F, Gruber S, Freppaz M, Williams M, et al. 2018. Review: impacts of permafrost degradation on inorganic chemistry of surface fresh water. *Global Planet. Change* 162:69–83

- Walvoord MA, Striegl RG. 2007. Increased groundwater to stream discharge from permafrost thawing in the Yukon River basin: potential impacts on lateral export of carbon and nitrogen. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 34:L12402
- Luyssaert S, Inglima I, Jung M, Richardson AD, Reichstein M, et al. 2007. CO₂ balance of boreal, temperate, and tropical forests derived from a global database. *Glob. Change Biol.* 13:2509–37
- Qiu C, Zhu D, Ciais P, Guenet B, Peng S. 2020. The role of northern peatlands in the global carbon cycle for the 21st century. *Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr.* 29:956–73
- Turetsky MR, Abbott BW, Jones MC, Anthony KW, Olefeldt D, et al. 2020. Carbon release through abrupt permafrost thaw. *Nat. Geosci.* 13:138–43
- Wagner-Riddle C, Congreves KA, Abalos D, Berg AA, Brown SE, et al. 2017. Globally important nitrous oxide emissions from croplands induced by freeze-thaw cycles. *Nat. Geosci.* 10:279–83
- Drake TW, Wickland KP, Spencer RG, McKnight DM, Striegl RG. 2015. Ancient low-molecularweight organic acids in permafrost fuel rapid carbon dioxide production upon thaw. *PNAS* 112:13946– 51
- Drotz SH, Sparrman T, Nilsson MB, Schleucher J, Öquist MG. 2010. Both catabolic and anabolic heterotrophic microbial activity proceed in frozen soils. PNAS 107:21046–51
- Segura JH, Nilsson MB, Haei M, Sparrman T, Mikkola J-P, et al. 2017. Microbial mineralization of cellulose in frozen soils. *Nat. Commun.* 8:1154
- He H, Jansson P-E, Svensson M, Björklund J, Tarvainen L, et al. 2016. Forests on drained agricultural peatland are potentially large sources of greenhouse gases—insights from a full rotation period simulation. *Biogeosciences* 13:2305–18
- 61. Matzner E, Borken W. 2008. Do freeze-thaw events enhance C and N losses from soils of different ecosystems? A review. *Eur. J. Soil Sci.* 59:274–84
- Commane R, Lindaas J, Benmergui J, Luus KA, Chang RYW, et al. 2017. Carbon dioxide sources from Alaska driven by increasing early winter respiration from Arctic tundra. PNAS 114:5361–66
- Öquist MG, Nilsson M, Sörensson F, Kasimir-Klemedtsson Å, Persson T, et al. 2004. Nitrous oxide production in a forest soil at low temperatures-processes and environmental controls. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 49:371–78
- Natali SM, Watts JD, Rogers BM, Potter S, Ludwig SM, et al. 2019. Large loss of CO₂ in winter observed across the northern permafrost region. *Nat. Clim. Change* 9:852–57
- Ribeiro-Kumara C, Köster E, Aaltonen H, Köster K. 2020. How do forest fires affect soil greenhouse gas emissions in upland boreal forests? A review. *Environ. Res.* 184:109328
- Joabsson A, Christensen TR, Wallén B. 1999. Vascular plant controls on methane emissions from northern peatforming wetlands. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 14:385–88
- Grannas AM, Bogdal C, Hageman KJ, Halsall C, Harner T, et al. 2013. The role of the global cryosphere in the fate of organic contaminants. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.* 13:3271–305
- Durnford D, Dastoor A, Figueras-Nieto D, Ryjkov A. 2010. Long range transport of mercury to the Arctic and across Canada. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 10:6063–86
- Wang S, Mulligan CN. 2006. Occurrence of arsenic contamination in Canada: sources, behavior and distribution. Sci. Total Environ. 366:701–21
- Cumberland SA, Douglas G, Grice K, Moreau JW. 2016. Uranium mobility in organic matter-rich sediments: a review of geological and geochemical processes. *Earth-Sci. Rev.* 159:160–85
- Borch T, Kretzschmar R, Kappler A, Van Cappellen P, Ginder-Vogel M, et al. 2010. Biogeochemical redox processes and their impact on contaminant dynamics. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 44:15–23
- Schuster PF, Schaefer KM, Aiken GR, Antweiler RC, Dewild JF, et al. 2018. Permafrost stores a globally significant amount of mercury. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 45:1463–71
- Chételat J, Amyot M, Arp P, Blais JM, Depew D, et al. 2015. Mercury in freshwater ecosystems of the Canadian Arctic: recent advances on its cycling and fate. *Sci. Total Environ.* 509:41–66
- Yu Y, Katsoyiannis A, Bohlin-Nizzetto P, Brorström-Lundén E, Ma J, et al. 2019. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons not declining in Arctic air despite global emission reduction. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 53:2375– 82

- Brosten TR, Bradford JH, McNamara JP, Zarnetske JP, Gooseff MN, Bowden WB. 2006. Profiles of temporal thaw depths beneath two arctic stream types using ground-penetrating radar. *Permafrost Periglac. Proc.* 17:341–55
- Zarnetske JP, Gooseff MN, Bowden WB, Greenwald MJ, Brosten TR, et al. 2008. Influence of morphology and permafrost dynamics on hyporheic exchange in arctic headwater streams under warming climate conditions. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 35:L02501
- 77. Mulholland PJ, Marzolf ER, Webster JR, Hart DR, Hendricks SP. 1997. Evidence that hyporheic zones increase heterotrophic metabolism and phosphorus uptake in forest streams. *Limnol. Oceanogr*. 42:443–51
- 78. Wondzell SM. 2011. The role of the hyporheic zone across stream networks. *Hydrol. Proc.* 25:3525–32
- Edwardson KJ, Bowden WB, Dahm C, Morrice J. 2003. The hydraulic characteristics and geochemistry of hyporheic and parafluvial zones in Arctic tundra streams, north slope, Alaska. *Adv. Water Resourc.* 26:907–23
- Bardgett RD, Freeman C, Ostle NJ. 2008. Microbial contributions to climate change through carbon cycle feedbacks. *ISME J*. 2:805–14
- Friberg N, Bergfur J, Rasmussen J, Sandin L. 2013. Changing northern catchments: Is altered hydrology, temperature or both going to shape future stream communities and ecosystem processes? *Hydrol. Proc.* 27:734–40
- Monteux S, Keuper F, Fontaine S, Gavazov K, Hallin S, et al. 2020. Carbon and nitrogen cycling in Yedoma permafrost controlled by microbial functional limitations. *Nat. Geosci.* 13:794–98
- Chen J, Luo Y, Xia J, Jiang L, Zhou X, et al. 2015. Stronger warming effects on microbial abundances in colder regions. *Sci. Rep.* 5:18032
- Mackelprang R, Waldrop MP, DeAngelis KM, David MM, Chavarria KL, et al. 2011. Metagenomic analysis of a permafrost microbial community reveals a rapid response to thaw. *Nature* 480:368–71
- Jusselme M-D, Saccone P, Zinger L, Faure M, Le Roux X, et al. 2016. Variations in snow depth modify N-related soil microbial abundances and functioning during winter in subalpine grassland. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 92:27–37
- Deslippe JR, Hartmann M, Simard SW, Mohn WW. 2012. Long-term warming alters the composition of Arctic soil microbial communities. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 82:303–15
- 87. Weedon JT, Kowalchuk GA, Aerts R, Freriks S, Röling WF, van Bodegom PM. 2017. Compositional stability of the bacterial community in a climate-sensitive sub-Arctic peatland. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:317
- Tsyganov AN, Aerts R, Nijs I, Cornelissen JH, Beyens L. 2012. Sphagnum-dwelling testate amoebae in subarctic bogs are more sensitive to soil warming in the growing season than in winter: the results of eight-year field climate manipulations. *Protist* 163:400–14
- Trubl G, Jang HB, Roux S, Emerson JB, Solonenko N, et al. 2018. Soil viruses are underexplored players in ecosystem carbon processing. *mSystems* 3:e00076–18
- Johnston ER, Hatt JK, He Z, Wu L, Guo X, et al. 2019. Responses of tundra soil microbial communities to half a decade of experimental warming at two critical depths. *PNAS* 116:15096–105
- Crowther TW, Boddy L, Jones TH. 2012. Functional and ecological consequences of saprotrophic fungus-grazer interactions. *ISME J*. 6:1992–2001
- Schmidt IK, Jonasson S, Shaver G, Michelsen A, Nordin A. 2002. Mineralization and distribution of nutrients in plants and microbes in four arctic ecosystems: responses to warming. *Plant Soil* 242:93–106
- Kwon MJ, Jung JY, Tripathi BM, Göckede M, Lee YK, Kim M. 2019. Dynamics of microbial communities and CO₂ and CH₄ fluxes in the tundra ecosystems of the changing Arctic. *J. Microbiol.* 57:325–36
- Weedon JT, Kowalchuk GA, Aerts R, van Hal J, van Logtestijn R, et al. 2012. Summer warming accelerates sub-arctic peatland nitrogen cycling without changing enzyme pools or microbial community structure. *Glob. Change Biol.* 18:138–50
- 95. Coolen MJL, Orsi WD. 2015. The transcriptional response of microbial communities in thawing Alaskan permafrost soils. *Front. Microbiol.* 6:197
- Lavelle P. 1997. Faunal activities and soil processes: adaptive strategies that determine ecosystem function. Adv. Ecol. Res. 27:93–132
- Heemsbergen D, Berg M, Loreau M, Van Hal J, Faber J, Verhoef H. 2004. Biodiversity effects on soil processes explained by interspecific functional dissimilarity. *Science* 306:1019–20

- Alatalo JM, Jägerbrand AK, Čuchta P. 2015. Collembola at three alpine subarctic sites resistant to twenty years of experimental warming. Sci. Rep. 5:18161
- Thakur MP, Reich PB, Hobbie SE, Stefanski A, Rich R, et al. 2018. Reduced feeding activity of soil detritivores under warmer and drier conditions. *Nat. Clim. Change* 8:75–78
- Krab EJ, Oorsprong H, Berg MP, Cornelissen JH. 2010. Turning northern peatlands upside down: disentangling microclimate and substrate quality effects on vertical distribution of Collembola. *Funct. Ecol.* 24:1362–69
- Koltz AM, Classen AT, Wright JP. 2018. Warming reverses top-down effects of predators on belowground ecosystem function in Arctic tundra. PNAS 115:E7541–49
- 102. Coulson SJ, Convey P, Aakra K, Aarvik L, Ávila-Jiménez ML, et al. 2014. The terrestrial and freshwater invertebrate biodiversity of the archipelagoes of the Barents Sea; Svalbard, Franz Josef Land and Novaya Zemlya. Soil Biol. Biochem. 68:440–70
- Wackett AA, Yoo K, Olofsson J, Klaminder J. 2018. Human-mediated introduction of geoengineering earthworms in the Fennoscandian arctic. *Biol. Invasions* 20:1377–86
- Blume-Werry G, Krab EJ, Olofsson J, Sundqvist MK, Väisänen M, Klaminder J. 2020. Invasive earthworms unlock arctic plant nitrogen limitation. *Nat. Commun.* 11:1766
- 105. Bokhorst S, Phoenix GK, Bjerke JW, Callaghan TV, Huyer-Brugman F, Berg MP. 2012. Extreme winter warming events more negatively impact small rather than large soil fauna: shift in community composition explained by traits not taxa. *Glob. Change Biol.* 18:1152–62
- Fuhrer J. 2003. Agroecosystem responses to combinations of elevated CO₂, ozone, and global climate change. Agricult. Ecosyst. Environ. 97:1–20
- Olesen JE, Bindi M. 2002. Consequences of climate change for European agricultural productivity, land use and policy. *Eur. J. Agron.* 16:239–62
- Piao S, Ciais P, Huang Y, Shen Z, Peng S, et al. 2010. The impacts of climate change on water resources and agriculture in China. *Nature* 467:43–51
- Hinzman LD, Bettez ND, Bolton WR, Chapin FS, Dyurgerov MB, et al. 2005. Evidence and implications of recent climate change in northern Alaska and other Arctic regions. *Clim. Change* 72:251–98
- Hou X, Han X, Li H, Xing B. 2010. Composition and organic carbon distribution of organomineral complex in black soil under different land uses and management systems. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 41:1129–43
- Liu X, Zhang X, Wang Y, Sui Y, Zhang S, et al. 2010. Soil degradation: a problem threatening the sustainable development of agriculture in Northeast China. *Plant Soil Environ.* 56:87–97
- 112. Struik PC, Kuyper TW. 2017. Sustainable intensification in agriculture: the richer shade of green. A review. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.* 37:39
- 113. Huang L, Liang Z, Suarez DL, Wang Z, Wang M, et al. 2016. Impact of cultivation year, nitrogen fertilization rate and irrigation water quality on soil salinity and soil nitrogen in saline-sodic paddy fields in Northeast China. J. Agric. Sci. 154:632–46
- 114. Hemes KS, Chamberlain SD, Eichelmann E, Anthony T, Valach A, et al. 2019. Assessing the carbon and climate benefit of restoring degraded agricultural peat soils to managed wetlands. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 268:202–14
- van der Kamp G, Hayashi M, Gallén D. 2003. Comparing the hydrology of grassed and cultivated catchments in the semi-arid Canadian prairies. *Hydrol. Proc.* 17:559–75
- Hirota T, Usuki K, Hayashi M, Nemoto M, Iwata Y, et al. 2011. Soil frost control: agricultural adaptation to climate variability in a cold region of Japan. *Mitig. Adapt. Strateg. Glob. Change* 16:791
- 117. Henry HAL. 2013. Soil freezing dynamics in a changing climate: implications for agriculture. In *Plant and Microbe Adaptations to Cold in a Changing World*, ed. R Imai, M Yoshida, N Matsumoto. New York: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-8253-6_2
- Li L-J, You M-Y, Shi H-A, Ding X-L, Qiao Y-F, Han X-Z. 2013. Soil CO₂ emissions from a cultivated Mollisol: effects of organic amendments, soil temperature, and moisture. *Eur. J. Soil Biol.* 55:83–90
- Jia S, Zhang X, Chen X, McLaughlin NB, Zhang S, et al. 2016. Long-term conservation tillage influences the soil microbial community and its contribution to soil CO₂ emissions in a Mollisol in Northeast China. *J. Soils Sediments* 16:1–12

- van Bochove E, Jones HG, Bertrand N, Prévost D. 2000. Winter fluxes of greenhouse gases from snowcovered agricultural soil: intra-annual and interannual variations. *Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles* 14:113–25
- Groffman PM, Hardy JP, Fashu-Kanu S, Driscoll CT, Cleavitt NL, et al. 2011. Snow depth, soil freezing and nitrogen cycling in a northern hardwood forest landscape. *Biogeochemistry* 102:223–38
- 122. McClelland JW, Stieglitz M, Pan F, Holmes RM, Peterson BJ. 2007. Recent changes in nitrate and dissolved organic carbon export from the upper Kuparuk River, North Slope, Alaska. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosci. 112:G04S60
- Chapin FS III, Peterson G, Berkes F, Callaghan T, Angelstam P, et al. 2004. Resilience and vulnerability of northern regions to social and environmental change. *AMBIO: J. Hum. Environ.* 33:344–49
- Cannone N, Sgorbati S, Guglielmin M. 2007. Unexpected impacts of climate change on alpine vegetation. Front. Ecol. Environ. 5:360–64
- 125. Collins M, Knutti R, Arblaster J, Dufresne J-L, Fichefet T, et al. 2013. Long-term climate change: projections, commitments and irreversibility. In *Climate Change 2013—The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, ed. TF Stocker, D Qin, G-K Plattner, M Tignor, SK Allen, et al., pp. 1029–136. Cambridge/New York: Cambridge Univ. Press
- 126. Wu Q, Zhang Z, Gao S, Ma W. 2016. Thermal impacts of engineering activities and vegetation layer on permafrost in different alpine ecosystems of the Qinghai-Tibet Plateau, China. Cryosphere 10:1695–706
- 127. Lin Z, Niu F, Liu H, Lu J. 2011. Disturbance-related thawing of a ditch and its influence on roadbeds on permafrost. *Cold Regions Sci. Technol.* 66:105–14
- Borken W, Davidson EA, Savage K, Sundquist ET, Steudler P. 2006. Effect of summer throughfall exclusion, summer drought, and winter snow cover on methane fluxes in a temperate forest soil. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 38:1388–95
- Salmon VG, Schädel C, Bracho R, Pegoraro E, Celis G, et al. 2018. Adding depth to our understanding of nitrogen dynamics in permafrost soils. *J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosci.* 123:2497–512
- 130. White T, Brantley S, Banwart S, Chorover J, Dietrich W, et al. 2015. The role of critical zone observatories in critical zone science. In *Developments in Earth Surface Processes*, Vol. 19, ed. JR Giardino, C Houser, pp. 15–78. Amsterdam: Elsevier
- Riseborough D, Shiklomanov N, Etzelmüller B, Gruber S, Marchenko S. 2008. Recent advances in permafrost modelling. *Permafrost Periglac. Proc.* 19:137–56
- 132. Davison W, Zhang H. 2012. Progress in understanding the use of diffusive gradients in thin films (DGT)—back to basics. *Environ. Chem.* 9:1–13
- 133. Gao Y, Leermakers M, Gabelle C, Divis P, Billon G, et al. 2006. High-resolution profiles of trace metals in the pore waters of riverine sediment assessed by DET and DGT. *Sci. Total Environ.* 362:266–77
- Cesbron F, Metzger E, Launeau P, Deflandre B, Delgard M-L, et al. 2014. Simultaneous 2D imaging of dissolved iron and reactive phosphorus in sediment porewaters by thin-film and hyperspectral methods. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 48:2816–26
- Amato ED, Simpson SL, Jarolimek CV, Jolley DF. 2014. Diffusive gradients in thin films technique provide robust prediction of metal bioavailability and toxicity in estuarine sediments. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 48:4485–94
- Peng Q, Wang M, Cui Z, Huang J, Chen C, et al. 2017. Assessment of bioavailability of selenium in different plant-soil systems by diffusive gradients in thin-films (DGT). *Environ. Pollut.* 225:637–43
- Koppel DJ, Adams MS, King CK, Jolley DF. 2019. Diffusive gradients in thin films can predict the toxicity of metal mixtures to two microalgae: validation for environmental monitoring in Antarctic marine conditions. *Environ. Toxicol Chem.* 38:1323–33
- 138. Søndergaard J, Bach L, Gustavson K. 2014. Measuring bioavailable metals using diffusive gradients in thin films (DGT) and transplanted seaweed (*Fucus vesiculosus*), blue mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) and sea snails (*Littorina saxatilis*) suspended from monitoring buoys near a former lead-zinc mine in West Greenland. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 78:102–9
- Mellage A, Smeaton CM, Furman A, Atekwana EA, Rezanezhad F, Van Cappellen P. 2018. Linking spectral induced polarization (SIP) and subsurface microbial processes: results from sand column incubation experiments. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 52:2081–90

- 140. Nitze I, Grosse G, Jones BM, Romanovsky VE, Boike J. 2018. Remote sensing quantifies widespread abundance of permafrost region disturbances across the Arctic and Subarctic. *Nat. Commun.* 9:5423
- Not C, Hillaire-Marcel C, Ghaleb B, Polyak L, Darby D. 2008. ²¹⁰Pb-²²⁶Ra-²³⁰Th systematics in very low sedimentation rate sediments from the Mendeleev Ridge (Arctic Ocean). *Can. J. Earth Sci.* 45:1207– 19
- 142. Navarro-Martinez F, Garcia AS, Sánchez-Martos F, Espasa AB, Sánchez LM, Perulero AR. 2017. Radionuclides as natural tracers of the interaction between groundwater and surface water in the River Andarax, Spain. *J. Environ. Radioactivity* 180:9–18
- Kuzyk ZZA, Gobeil C, Macdonald RW. 2013.²¹⁰Pb and ¹³⁷Cs in margin sediments of the Arctic Ocean: controls on boundary scavenging. *Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles* 27:422–39
- 144. Haggerty R, Martí E, Argerich A, Von Schiller D, Grimm NB. 2009. Resazurin as a "smart" tracer for quantifying metabolically active transient storage in stream ecosystems. *J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosci.* 114:G03014
- 145. MacKenzie A. 2000. Environmental radioactivity: experience from the 20th century-trends and issues for the 21st century. *Sci. Total Environ.* 249:313–29
- Zolkos S, Tank SE, Kokelj SV. 2018. Mineral weathering and the permafrost carbon-climate feedback. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 45:9623–32

Annual Review of Environment and Resources

Volume 46, 2021

Contents

I. Integrative Themes and Emerging Concerns

Land Use and Ecological Change: A 12,000-Year History	
Erle C. Ellis	1
Anxiety, Worry, and Grief in a Time of Environmental and Climate	
Crisis: A Narrative Review	
Maria Ojala, Ashlee Cunsolo, Charles A. Ogunbode, and Jacqueline Middleton	

II. Earth's Life Support Systems

Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Air Conditioning and Refrigeration Service Expansion in Developing Countries <i>Yabin Dong, Marney Coleman, and Shelie A. Miller</i>	.59
Insights from Time Series of Atmospheric Carbon Dioxide and Related Tracers	
Ralph F. Keeling and Heather D. Graven	.85
The Cold Region Critical Zone in Transition: Responses to Climate Warming and Land Use Change Kunfu Pi, Magdalena Bieroza, Anatoli Brouchkov, Weitao Chen, Louis J.P. Dufour, Konstantin B. Gongalsky, Anke M. Herrmann, Eveline J. Krab, Catherine Landesman, Anniet M. Laverman, Natalia Mazei, Yuri Mazei, Mats G. Öquist, Matthias Peichl, Sergey Pozdniakov, Fereidoun Rezanezhad, Céline Roose-Amsaleg, Anastasia Shatilovich, Andong Shi, Christina M. Smeaton, Lei Tong, Andrey N. Tsyganov,	
and Philippe Van Cappellen	111

III. Human Use of the Environment and Resources

The Environmental and Resource Dimensions of Automated Transport: A Nexus for Enabling Vehicle Automation to Support Sustainable Urban Mobility <i>Alexandros Nikitas, Nikolas Thomopoulos, and Dimitris Milakis</i> 167
Advancements in and Integration of Water, Sanitation, and Solid Waste for Low- and Middle-Income Countries Abishek Sankara Narayan, Sara J. Marks, Regula Meierhofer, Linda Strande, Elizabeth Tilley, Christian Zurbrügg, and Christoph Lüthi 193
 Wild Meat Is Still on the Menu: Progress in Wild Meat Research, Policy, and Practice from 2002 to 2020 Daniel J. Ingram, Lauren Coad, E.J. Milner-Gulland, Luke Parry, David Wilkie, Mohamed I. Bakarr; Ana Benítez-López, Elizabeth L. Bennett, Richard Bodmer, Guy Cowlishaw, Hani R. El Bizri, Heather E. Eves, Julia E. Fa, Christopher D. Golden, Donald Midoko Iponga, Nguyễn Văn Minb, Thais Q. Morcatty, Robert Mwinyibali, Robert Nasi, Vincent Nijman, Yaa Ntiamoa-Baidu, Freddy Pattiselanno, Carlos A. Peres, Madhu Rao, John G. Robinson, J. Marcus Rowcliffe, Ciara Stafford, Miriam Supuma, Francis Nchembi Tarla, Nathalie van Vliet, Michelle Wieland, and Katharine Abernethy
The Human Creation and Use of Reactive Nitrogen: A Global and Regional Perspective James N. Galloway, Albert Bleeker, and Jan Willem Erisman
Forest Restoration in Low- and Middle-Income Countries Jeffrey R. Vincent, Sara R. Curran, and Mark S. Ashton
Freshwater Scarcity Peter H. Gleick and Heather Cooley 319
Facilitating Power Grid Decarbonization with Distributed Energy Resources: Lessons from the United States <i>Bo Shen, Fredrich Kahrl, and Andrew J. Satchwell</i>
From Low- to Net-Zero Carbon Cities: The Next Global Agenda Karen C. Seto, Galina Churkina, Angel Hsu, Meredith Keller, Peter W.G. Newman, Bo Qin, and Anu Ramaswami
Stranded Assets: Environmental Drivers, Societal Challenges, and Supervisory Responses Ben Caldecott, Alex Clark, Krister Koskelo, Ellie Mulholland, and Conor Hickey 417
Transformational Adaptation in the Context of Coastal Cities Laura Kuhl, M. Feisal Rahman, Samantha McCraine, Dunja Krause, Md Fahad Hossain, Aditya Vansh Bahadur, and Saleemul Huq

IV. Management and Governance of Resources and Environment

 Locally Based, Regionally Manifested, and Globally Relevant: Indigenous and Local Knowledge, Values, and Practices for Nature Eduardo S. Brondízio, Yildiz Aumeeruddy-Thomas, Peter Bates, Joji Carino, Álvaro Fernández-Llamazares, Maurizio Farhan Ferrari, Kathleen Galvin, Victoria Reyes-García, Pamela McElwee, Zsolt Molnár, Aibek Samakov, and Uttam Babu Shrestha
Commons Movements: Old and New Trends in Rural and Urban Contexts Sergio Villamayor-Tomas and Gustavo A. García-López
Vicious Circles: Violence, Vulnerability, and Climate Change Halvard Buhaug and Nina von Uexkull
Restoring Degraded Lands Almut Arneth, Lennart Olsson, Annette Cowie, Karl-Heinz Erb, Margot Hurlbert, Werner A. Kurz, Alisher Mirzabaev, and Mark D.A. Rounsevell
How to Prevent and Cope with Coincidence of Risks to the Global Food System Shenggen Fan, Emily EunYoung Cho, Ting Meng, and Christopher Rue
Forests and Sustainable Development in the Brazilian Amazon:History, Trends, and Future ProspectsRachael D. Garrett, Federico Cammelli, Joice Ferreira, Samuel A. Levy,Judson Valentim, and Ima Vieira625
 Three Decades of Climate Mitigation: Why Haven't We Bent the Global Emissions Curve? Isak Stoddard, Kevin Anderson, Stuart Capstick, Wim Carton, Joanna Depledge, Keri Facer, Clair Gough, Frederic Hache, Claire Hoolohan, Martin Hultman, Niclas Hällström, Sivan Kartha, Sonja Klinsky, Magdalena Kuchler, Eva Lövbrand, Naghmeh Nasiritousi, Peter Newell, Glen P. Peters, Youba Sokona, Andy Stirling, Matthew Stilwell, Clive L. Spash, and Mariama Williams

V. Methods and Indicators

Discounting and Global Environmental Change	
Stephen Polasky and Nfamara K. Dampha	
Machine Learning for Sustainable Energy Systems	
Priya L. Donti and J. Zico Kolter	